I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Appellant Margarita Mendoza de Sugiyama is a Mexican

American woman who identifies as Latina. CP 1220. She has over 25-

years of service working for various Washington State agencies. I d. She 

brings this petition because the appeal raises issues of substantial public 

interest, and because the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with this 

Court's decision in Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439,334 P.3d 

541 (2014). 

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

At trial, Ms. Mendoza de Sugiyama alleged whistleblower 

retaliation under RCW 42.40, a hostile work environment, discrimination, 

and retaliation under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), 

all of which were dismissed at summary judgment. On appeal, she alleged 

error in dismissing her claims and also alleged that the trial court erred by 

denying her motion to compel discovery. CP 13-14. 

On February 10, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished 

decision affirming the trial court, which ignored this Court's decision in 

Scrivener (relegating it to a footnote). The court stated facts in the light 

most favorable to the State, and never even mentioned that in her 

deposition, WSDOT Secretary Paula Hammond admitted that in her view, 

Ms. Mendoza de Sugiyama tried to put Hammond on report, and she 



admitted, and then retracted, the statement that she felt it was 

inappropriate for the internal information to be shared externally. A copy 

of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-011 through A-033. 

A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for 

reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-034. A copy of the order 

denying petitioner's motion to publish is in the Appendix at page A-035. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue #1: Whether it is reversible error for an appellate court to 

affirm a trial court's decision to deny discovery of emails on the grounds 

that the request was overbroad and burdensome, even though at the time 

the applicable motion to compel was filed the emails had already been 

assembled by the producing party and placed in an electronic file on one 

desktop computer, especially when that same appellate court had 

previously ruled that the same trial judge could not deny the same party 

the same emails, which had been separately requested by appellant during 

the same time frame under the Public Records Act (see Wash. State Dep't 

ofTransp.v. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. 588, 330 P.3d 209 

(2014)), and when the net effect was that the requesting party, the 

appellant here, did not have those emails for use in discovery or for 

summary judgment in this case? 
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Issue #2: Under RCW 42.40.050, to prevail at trial, a state 

whistleblower must prove that she is a whistleblower; that she has been 

terminated (which brings a presumption of retaliation); and that the State 

cannot rebut that presumption by proving by a preponderance of the 

evidence that there have been a series of documented personnel problems 

or a single, egregious event, or that the agency action or actions were 

justified by reasons unrelated to the employee's status as a whistleblower 

and that improper motive was not a substantial factor. In light of the 

defined elements delineated in the statute, is it reversible error for a trial 

court and a court of appeals to ignore the statutory elements and instead 

choose to apply the WLAD retaliation shifting burden standard to the facts 

presented by the nonmoving party at summary judgment as was done 

here? 

Issue #3: RCW 42.40.020(6)(a)(ii) provides that improper 

governmental action "means any action by an employee undertaken in the 

performance of the employee's official duties ... which is in violation of 

federal or state law or rule, if the violation is not merely technical or of a 

minimum nature." Under subpart 6(b ), "personnel actions, for which other 

remedies exist," are not improper governmental actions. Contrary to the 

ruling by the Court of Appeals, for summary judgment purposes, is a state 

employee a whistleblower if that employee submits a letter to a public 
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official in good faith reporting violations of federal laws and rules, which 

among other things, includes an allegation that one of the violations was 

placement of an unqualified employee into a position of responsibility? 

Issue #4: Under RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(i), a whistleblower 

includes: "An employee who in good faith reports alleged improper 

governmental action to the auditor or other public official ... initiating an 

investigation by the auditor." Under RCW 42.40.040(1)(a), "[t]he public 

official ... receiving an assertion of improper governmental action must 

report the assertion to the auditor within fifteen calendar days of receipt of 

the assertion .... A failure of the public official to report the assertion to 

the auditor within fifteen days does not impair the rights of the 

whistleblower." Under RCW 42.40.020(7), a public official, "means the 

attorney general's designee or designees; the director, or equivalent 

thereof in the agency where the employee works; an appropriate number 

of individuals designated to receive whistleblower reports by the head of 

each agency; or the executive ethics board." Contrary to the ruling by the 

Court of Appeals, for summary judgment purposes, is a state employee a 

whistleblower ifthe letter she wrote reporting improper governmental 

action was read by a public official, thus providing notice, whether or not 

the letter was specifically addressed to that public official? 

Issue #5: In considering issues pertaining to claims brought under 
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the WLAD after the appeal of a summary judgment dismissal of those 

claims, does the Court of Appeals commit reversible error when it ignores 

Supreme Court precedent that would admonish against such a dismissal, 

even though the Supreme Court opinion was published after oral argument 

in the case, but before the Court of Appeals issued its ruling? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural Background 

In discovery, appellant asked for all documents, including emails, 

correspondence, and notes, between or among specific individuals and 

"defendant relating to the issues identified in plaintiff's Complaint." CP 

90-94. After the State objected, Mendoza de Sugiyama agreed to narrow 

the scope of her requests to emails exchanged between twelve key 

individuals in the case. CP 47-48. 

On February 14, 2012, appellant conducted the deposition of 

WSDOT's CR 30(b)(6) designee, Joanna K. Jones, who was employed by 

WSDOT in the Information Technology field. CP 289, CP 292. She 

testified that she was asked to find emails exchanged between the 

individuals identified in Mendoza de Sugiyama's discovery dating back 

from January 1, 2007 to the date ofthe request. CP 294. Jones stated that 

she had already completed the email searches for ten identified 

individuals. CP 298-300, 302. She further testified that the emails were 
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ready to be produced on an external hard drive, which would take up to 

one hour. CP 308, CP 316. The emails, however, had not been reviewed 

for privilege. CP 317. 

Following the CR 30(b)(6) deposition, on February 16, 2012, 

appellant proposed providing the State with an external hard drive for 

copying the emails and offered to convert the documents at appellant's 

expense so that it would not cost the State any money to provide these 

documents. CP 281. In response, the State persisted that it was unduly 

burdensome for the State to review 174,000 emails for privilege. CP 27. 

The parties filed corresponding motions to compel and for a protective 

order on March 9, 2012. CP 23, 45. 

The trial court denied appellant's motion to compel regarding the 

emails, finding that the requests for production were overbroad and unduly 

burdensome, and that appellant should employ key-word searches for the 

emails. RP 4/27/13 at 33-36, CP 397-98. 

Mendoza de Sugiyama then requested the same emails under the 

Public Records Act, RCW 42.56, and the State sued her to prevent 

disclosure. See Wash. State Dep't ofTransp.v. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 

Wn. App. 588,330 P.3d 209 (2014). The very same trial judge was 

assigned to the PRA litigation, and after initially denying the production, 

on reconsideration ordered disclosure of the emails under the PRA. Id. 
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Rather than disclose the emails, the State appealed and the trial court 

granted a stipulated stay pending appeal, preventing disclosure. !d. 1 The 

PRA claim was resolved in favor of Ms. Mendoza de Sugiyama, but not in 

time to provide the documents in this litigation. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 

182 Wn. App. at 604 ("we conclude that public records should not be 

exempt under the PRA merely because producing the records is unduly 

burdensome"). 

In this case, the State moved for summary judgment on all of 

appellant's claims. CP 402. After oral argument, CP 1532, RP 4/12/13 at 

l-21, a newly-assigned judge dismissed all of appellant's claims by letter 

dated May 22,2013 and order dated June 7, 2013. CP 1532, 1535. The 

court also denied appellant's motion for reconsideration. CP 1537, CP 

1583, RP 7/12113 at 1-17. This timely appeal followed. 

B. Factual Background Leading to Discrimination and 
Retaliation 

Mendoza de Sugiyama is a Mexican-American woman and 

identifies as Latina. CP 1220. She has over 25-years of service working 

for various Washington State agencies. !d. Prior to working for WSDOT, 

she gained civil rights experience in the affirmative action, discrimination, 

1 Appellant moved to consolidate the PRA litigation with this appeal, but the Appeals 
Court Commissioner denied that request. 
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and disability accommodation fields with the Office of Financial 

Management, as the Governor's Senior Executive Policy Coordinator for 

Affirmative Action, and with the Department of Labor and Industries as 

the Office of Human Resources' Diversity Program Manager. CP 1221. 

From 2000-2003, Mendoza de Sugiyama worked for the Attorney 

General's Office as the Director of Consumer Services. !d. 

WSDOT had a long history of discrimination. In 1991, a WSDOT 

consultant recommended reorganization of the OEO office to combat 

discrimination. CP 1281. The recommendation was designed to implement 

a "culture change." !d. The plan envisioned an internal and external office 

and a director who would report to the WSDOT Secretary, and specifically 

rejected the notion that HR would monitor the internal organization to 

avoid the inherent conflicts of having an organization investigate itself. 

CP 1282, 1226-27. 

In June 2003, Mendoza de Sugiyama began working as the 

Diversity Programs Administrator for WSDOT's Office of Equal 

Opportunity ("OEO"), reporting to OEO Director Brenda Nnambi. CP 

1221. During that time, the OEO managed and monitored WSDOT's 

Equal Opportunity, Affirmative Action, Contract Compliance, and Non

Discrimination programs. !d. The OEO had two basic departments: (1) the 

External Civil Rights Branch ("ECRB"), which handled issues pertaining 
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to non-WSDOT employees, and (2) the Internal Civil Rights Branch 

("ICRB"), which handled WSDOT employee civil rights issues. !d. The 

OEO was its own independent department, separate from HR. !d., CP 

1221. 

In the years before she was terminated on September 24, 2010, 

WSDOT Director Nnambi consistently gave Mendoza de Sugiyama 

positive employee evaluations. CP 1412. Appellant served as an 

inspiration to her peers in the ECRB, including direct report Shawn 

Murinko, who later claimed she retaliated against him even though she 

had supported his hiring. CP 915, 1222. 

C. WSDOT Chief of Staff Reinmuth Sought to Return to 
the Days Where the OEO Was Controlled by HR and 
Appellant Actively Opposed Those Efforts 

In 2005, WSDOT hired Steve Reinmuth as its Director of 

Government Relations reporting to Paula Hammond, then Chief of Staff. 

CP 1056-57. Reinmuth became Chief of Staff in 2007 when Hammond 

became Secretary ofWSDOT. !d. From the outset, Reinmuth wanted to 

end OEO independence. In his view, ICRB (appellant's internal OEO 

group) was "notoriously insular in the way that they did their work." CP 

I 068. He claimed that "it became more and more apparent. .. that the 

insulation around [Plaintiffs] work and her particular organization and 

team was a liability and risk to the agency." CP 1069-70. 
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Around August 2009, Nnambi learned ofReinmuth's plans to 

move the ICRB under the authority of the HR Office. CP 1224. In 

December 2009, at the WSDOT Human Resources Managers' meeting, 

HR Director Kermit Wooden and HR Labor Relations Manager Jessica 

Todorovich announced that the OEO would move to HR. Id. Reinmuth 

pitched the move to Wooden and Nnambi, stating in part: 

• I believe that our current Human Resources Division is very 
different from the Personnel Division from twenty years ago 
that prompted the creation of the ... current structure. 

• Our current structure has posed the risk of legal liability for 
WSDOT, due to poor communication and the unnecessary 
sense of independence on internal civil rights matters. 

CP 649. Mendoza de Sugiyama opposed relocation of the ICRB from its 

independent position, to Wooden's HR organization, which reported to 

Administrative Services Division Assistant Secretary Bill Ford. CP 1224. 

Appellant complained to OEO Director Nnambi that the proposed move of 

OEO/ICRB would violate the Code of Federal Regulations applicable to 

state transportation agencies, as well as the requirements ofthe Baseline 

Assessment prepared by the Federal Highways Administration Office of 

Civil Rights. Id. Nnambi agreed and opposed the move for the same 

reasons, that it was inconsistent with federal regulations, and in her words, 

was like the "fox guarding the hen house." CP 980-81. Appellant also 

objected because Wooden and Ford had engaged in sexual improprieties 
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with subordinate women, creating a sexually-hostile work environment for 

appellant and other women. CP 901, 1008, 1012, 1020, 1030, 1245. 

In January 2010, at the Northwest Region HR meeting, Wooden 

announced that OEO Disability Program Manager/ ADA Compliance 

Officer Murinko would be transferring to Human Resources, and would 

oversee the ECRB. CP 1224. Appellant opposed Murinko's promotion 

because he lacked the qualifications and experience to do the job. !d. She 

also felt Wooden's actions constituted gross mismanagement and were 

potential violations of federal laws and rules. !d. She began opposing and 

reporting improper governmental actions to the superiors in her chain of 

command, primarily through verbal complaints to OEO Director Nnambi. 

CP 1224-25. Throughout January 2010, Appellant tried to work within her 

chain of command to address these issues. !d. 

After making no progress using informal channels, appellant wrote 

a letter to Governor Gregoire on February 2, 201 0 and copied Attorney 

General McKenna, raising concerns about WSDOT's decentralization of 

the civil rights functions of the OEO and explaining that it was contrary to 

the Code ofF ederal Regulations required of state transportation agencies 

and the Federal Highways Administration Office of Civil Rights National 

Baseline Assessment. CP 1244-49. Appellant outlined the national 

standard and risks associated with not having an independent OEO office, 
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and raised specific concerns about moving the OEO functions under the 

supervision of HR in light of the record of sexual impropriety of Wooden 

and Ford. 2 !d. Finally, appellant reported false accusations, hostility and 

discrimination by Reinmuth, Wooden, and Murinko. !d. 

On March 25, 2010, appellant reiterated her complaints by letter to 

Governor Gregoire's Chief of Staff about the OEO consolidation and 

employment discrimination issues. CP 1228, 1365. 

When Governor Gregoire's office failed to respond favorably, on 

March 29, 2010, appellant wrote to the Federal Highway Administration, 

submitting a Title VI complaint. CP 1368-70. She again stated that 

WSDOT' s proposed plan would not comply with the federal regulatory 

civil rights mandate for state transportation agencies, and reiterated her 

concerns about Murinko's lack of qualifications and limited practical 

experience in external ADA issues. CP 1229. 

Paula Hammond testified that Ms. Mendoza de Sugiyama tried to 

put her on report. CP 1043. And she admitted, then retracted, that she felt 

that it was inappropriate for the internal information to be shared 

2 In separate incidents, subordinates brought sexual harassment lawsuits against Ford and 
Wooden. Reinmuth testified WSDOT paid $100,000 to settle Ford's case, and Hammond 
testified that Wooden was required to repay some of the attorney's fees. CP 1040-41, 
1146-48. The State did not terminate or demote Ford or Wooden based on these 
incidents. Id 
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externally. CP 1048. She admitted she received and read both 

whistleblower letters. CP 1037-38. 

On September 23, 2010, just before her termination, Mendoza de 

Sugiyama filed a whistleblower complaint with the State Auditor's Office 

through the SAO website. CP 1161, 1230. She identified her letter to the 

Governor, her letter to the FHW A, her SAO complaint, and one other 

complaint in discovery responses. CP 1168-69. 

D. Wooden and Reinmuth Created a Hostile Work 
Environment Based on Appellant's Race and Gender, 
and Discriminated Against Appellant on the Basis of 
Race and Gender 

Reinmuth and Murinko are Caucasian men. CP 1230. Nnambi is an 

African-American woman. Id. Wooden is an African-American man, and 

Hammond and Todorovich are Caucasian women. Jd. 

Wooden frequently questioned the work ofOEO, and the ICBR in 

particular, and was demeaning to appellant, refusing to meet with her, and 

criticized her work, which was confirmed by Reinmuth. CP 1230, 1230, 

1385, 1031, 1014. Reinmuth testified that he understood appellant 

believed Wooden was a "sexual predator" and that "moving the internal 

civil rights branch to a sexual predator would be problem." CP 1140. 

Additionally, her letter to the Governor put Reinmuth on notice of a 

hostile work environment, which was supported by other witnesses. CP 
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1015,901-03, 1023-24, 1397, 1008, 1016-17, 1026. Hammond terminated 

Wooden on October 4, 2010, less than two weeks after she terminated 

appellant without identifying his misconduct as discrimination. CP 1 027. 3 

Reinmuth would not meet one-on-one with the appellant, whose 

comportment was proper, but would meet with her Caucasian 

counterparts. CP 1087-94, 1082-83, 1090-92, 1115-16, 1120, 1188, 1194, 

1196-97, 1119-21. He allowed Murinko, appellant's direct report, to meet 

with him and to criticize Mendoza de Sugiyama's work performance, 

undermining her in the eyes of her boss. CP 1121-23. In contrast, Nnambi 

testified that Mendoza de Sugiyama was competent and a good performer 

in all ways, and Reinmuth was difficult. CP 934-35, 947-952. Nnambi 

testified that after she expressed her support for appellant, Reinmuth 

began giving her less favorable and negative performance evaluations. CP 

978, 984-87,976-77. 

Reinmuth further testified that he hired at least nine employees 

while serving as Chief of Staff, but eight of the hires into high-level 

management positions were Caucasian and only one was a person of color. 

CP 1057-60. He admitted that the agency had an affirmative action plan, 

3 In contrast to Wooden's treatment of women, Mr. Murinko testified that he had no 
complaints about working with Wooden and that he liked working with HR. CP 1183, 
1188. 
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yet was not meeting its diversity goals. CP 1061-62, 1392. There was an 

"underutilization"4 of Latinos/Hispanics in management positions, and 

appellant was the highest-ranking Hispanic employee at WSDOT. CP 

1234. An underutilization could affect federal funding, and after WSDOT 

terminated appellant, HR took over that analysis. CP 942-43, 1234. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Petition Involves Issues Of Substantial Public 
Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme 
Court 

This Court should accept review because the trial court and the 

State circumvented the PRA and the discovery rules to prevent the 

appellant from obtaining relevant discovery during the litigation, which is 

an injustice that cannot be ignored. Overbroad and burdensome discovery 

requests may be denied. CR 26. But here, the emails were already 

assembled and available to the State to defend the action. They only 

needed review for privilege. The judge abused his discretion in requiring 

appellant to implement the "Sedona principles" using word searches for 

documents already assembled, which were separately subject to 

production under the PRA. CP 29-30, 392, RP 4/27113 at 33-4. The Court 

4 An underutilization occurs where the percentage of persons of color in a particular job 
description is less than the percentage of persons of color in the local community. CP 
939-43. 
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of Appeals stated, "Mendoza de Sugiyama's ability to obtain the 

documents under the PRA has no bearing on whether the trial court 

manifestly abused its discretion by denying Mendoza de Sugiyama's 

motion to compel discovery," but refused to combine the appeals, and 

ignored the prejudice of the end result-no access by appellant to 

documents for which the AG had full access. Justice and the appearance of 

fair dealing are issues of substantial public interest. 

This Court should accept review because it is an issue of 

substantial public interest that a trial court and court of appeals failed to 

follow the legal standard set out by the legislature in proving state 

whistleblower claims. Summary judgment should have been denied 

because under RCW 42.40.050, appellant only had to prove that she was a 

whistleblower; she had been terminated (which brings a presumption of 

retaliation); and that the State could not rebut that presumption by proving 

by a preponderance of the evidence that there have been a series of 

documented personnel problems or a single, egregious event, or that the 

agency action or actions were justified by reasons unrelated to the 

employee's status as a whistleblower and that improper motive was not a 

substantial factor. The contested elements contain contradictory evidence, 

so this must be left for the finder of fact. The adoption of the more 

complex WLAD retaliation standard is unwarranted. See opinion at n.6. 
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This Court should accept review because it is an issue of 

substantial public interest that appellant is a whistleblower reporting in 

good faith improper governmental action-it should not matter to whom 

she addressed the whistleblower letter-what matters is who read it, and it 

is uncontradicted that Hammond was a public official (as is the attorney 

general who was copied on the letter), and that she admitted to having 

received and read both whistleblower letters. Her failure to forward them 

to the auditor is irrelevant. RCW 42.40.040(l)(a). The fact that the report 

contained personnel issues as well as allegations of violation of federals 

laws and rules cannot exclude appellant from the whistleblower definition. 

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is In Conflict With 
Scrivener 

The decision below followed Scrivener in time, but the Court 

ignored Scrivener's strong admonition that "summary judgment to an 

employer is seldom appropriate in the WLAD cases because ofthe 

difficulty of proving a discriminatory motivation," and affirmed the trial 

court's summary judgment dismissal of the case. Scrivener v. Clark 

College, 181 Wn.2d 439,445,334 P.3d 541 (2014). The unpublished 

decision stated facts in the light most favorable to the State, and never 

even mentioned that in her deposition, WSDOT Secretary Paula 

Hammond admitted that Ms. Margarita Mendoza de Sugiyama tried to put 
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Hammond on report, and she admitted, and then retracted, the statement 

that she felt that it was inappropriate for the internal information to be 

shared externally. 

Ms. Mendoza de Sugiyama presented evidence that she was treated 

differently than others working there, but this Court in one short 

paragraph, without analysis, affirmed the dismissal of the claim stating, 

"Mendoza de Sugiyama cannot identify comparators that support her 

claim of disparate treatment." Again, this is not the law. First, one need 

not have a comparator to prevail at summary judgment or at trial. 

"Johnson was required to prove only that his race or disability was a 

substantial factor in Chevron's decisions. Proof of different treatment by 

way of comparator evidence is relevant and admissible but not required, 

and in many cases is not obtainable." Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 

159 Wn. App. 18, 33,244 P.3d 438 (2010). Second, Ms. Mendoza de 

Sugiyama presented evidence of different treatment and of comparators. 

See Appellant's opening brief at 48-49. 

As to WLAD retaliation, the court below affirmed the dismissal on 

the ground that "Secretary Hammond based her decision to terminate 

Mendoza de Sugiyama on Mendoza de Sugiyama's actions toward 

Murinko and her disclosure of confidential interview and employment

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