RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 17, 2015, 11:57 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 91735-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Margarita Mendoza De Sugiyama,

Petitioner,

ν.

Washington State Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Catherine Hendricks WSBA No. 16311 Assistant Attorney General OID No. 91019 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Wash. 98104 (206) 464-7352 Counsel for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW

A. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Found That The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Declining To Order Production Of 174,000 Email Without An Agreement On Key Search Terms To Limit The Number Of Email Produced.

In seeking review by this Court, Mendoza de Sugiyama asserts that the trial judge's order that she collaborate with WSDOT to limit the number of email requiring privilege review was "an injustice that cannot be ignored." Pet. For Review at 15.

The court of appeals correctly held the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it required her to collaborate with WSDOT on key-word searches that would have limited the number of email requiring privilege review. To protect a party or person from undue burden or expense, a court may make any order that justice requires, including an order denying discovery or allowing discovery only on specified terms and conditions or on limited scope. CR 26(c)(1), (2), (4). It is an appropriate exercise of discretion for a court to enter a protective order where an employee has refused to narrow discovery requests in response to legitimate employer concerns regarding confidentiality and undue burden. *Beltran v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv.*, 98 Wn. App. 245, 989 P.2d 604 (1999).

Mendoza de Sugiyama sought an order compelling WSDOT to produce more than 174,000 email exchanged between high-level WSDOT

executives and managers. Those email had not been screened for content or privilege. WSDOT moved for a protective order after failing in its attempts to meet and confer with Mendoza de Sugiyama on a strategy for ESI discovery. The trial court's conclusion that the request was overly broad was reasonable, and a protective order mandating cooperation was both necessary and appropriate. See, e.g., Aguilar v. Immigrations & Customs Enforcement Div., 255 F.R.D. 350 (S.D.N.Y. 2008); Zubulake v. UBS Warburg LLC, 217 F.R.D. 309 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). In this case, the requested email totaled in excess of 36 gigabytes of electronic information. CP at 41. This ESI request was 144 times more than the level at which the federal courts consider an ESI request presumptively overbroad. The Model Agreement Regarding Discovery Of Electronically Stored Information encourages collaboration to avoid overbroad discovery and "[a]bsent a showing of good cause, search terms returning more than 250 megabytes of data are presumed to be overbroad." Mendoza de Sugiyama failed to demonstrate good cause for her requests.

The trial court's ruling did not deprive Mendoza de Sugiyama of an opportunity to conduct electronic discovery pertinent to the issues in

¹ Most, if not all, of the cases discussing electronic discovery are federal, and the federal rules mandate cooperation and consultation on e-discovery. Fed. R. Civ. P. 26. See also The Sedona Principles: Best Practices Recommendations & Principles for Addressing Electronic Document Production Jonathan M. Redgrave et al. eds. June 2007, cited as authority by the trial court and by this Court in O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 145, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010).

this case. It found the requests overly broad and unduly burdensome as worded. CP at 397. The court ordered collaboration or gave Mendoza de Sugiyama the opportunity to independently narrow search terms. CP at 397. The record demonstrated that WSDOT was willing to collaborate with Mendoza de Sugiyama to develop a key-word search strategy that would identify relevant email within the large data set, yet she refused. The court of appeals affirmance of the trial court's order is reasonable in light of the record; the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

B. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Affirmed The Trial Court's Determination That Mendoza De Sugiyama Was Not A Whistleblower As A Matter Of Law

Mendoza de Sugiyama asserts that this Court should accept review "because it is an issue of public interest that appellant is a whistleblower reporting in good faith improper governmental action." Pet. for Review at 17. Mendoza de Sugiyama is not a whistleblower under either of the statutes she identifies, RCW 42.40.020(6)(a)(ii) or RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(i).

A 'whistleblower' is an employee who in good faith reports "alleged improper governmental action to the auditor or other public official, as defined in subsection (7) of this section, initiating an investigation by the

auditor under RCW 42.40.040." RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(i).² "Public official' means the attorney general's designee or designees; the director, or equivalent thereof in the agency where the employee works; an appropriate number of individuals designated to receive whistleblower reports by the head of each agency; or the executive ethics board." RCW 42.40.020(7). Mendoza de Sugiyama satisfied neither definition.

1. Mendoza De Sugiyama Did Not File A Complaint With The State Auditor Until After She Was Terminated

Mendoza de Sugiyama originally identified a complaint she filed online with the Auditor on September 24, 2010, as her "whistleblower complaint." CP at 856-57, 861. Two weeks earlier, on September 10, 2010, she was informed of her termination and given an effective date of September 25, 2010. CP at 694-707. She filed the complaint one day before her final day of employment. CP at 848-51. There is no evidence in the record that she was subjected to any workplace reprisal or retaliatory action due to her complaint to the Auditor during the one remaining day she worked at WSDOT. The trial court found that filing a whistleblower

²A whistleblower is also defined as "[a]n employee who is perceived by the employer as reporting, whether they did or not, alleged improper governmental action to the auditor or other public official, as defined in subsection (7) of this section, initiating an investigation by the auditor under RCW 42.40.040[.]" RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(ii)). Both definitions expressly require an investigation by the auditor.

³ Mendoza de Sugiyama incorrectly stated in her declaration and briefing that her complaint to the Auditor was submitted September 23, 2010, and she was fired on September 24, 2010. CP at 1230. The record shows that the complaint was submitted on September 24, 2010. CP 848-49.

complaint after notification of the termination decision foreclosed the possibility of any whistleblower retaliatory motive for the termination decision. CP at 1532-33. This finding is correct, and supported by the evidence.

2. Mendoza De Sugiyama's Complaint Covered Personnel Matters That Are Expressly Excluded In The Statutory Definition Of "Improper Governmental Action"

As a matter of law, Mendoza de Sugiyama's claim also fails because she cannot show that she complained of activity that is covered by the whistleblower statute. Summary judgment on RCW 42.40 claims is appropriate when the claimant fails to meet the statutory definition of whistleblower. *Marable v. Nitchman*, No. 06-35940, 2007 WL 4561144 (9th Cir. Dec. 26, 2007).⁴ The whistleblower statute defines what is "improper governmental action" (RCW 42.40.020(6)(a)), and more relevantly for this case, what it is not:

"Improper governmental action" does not include personnel actions, for which other remedies exist, including but not limited to employee grievances, complaints, appointments, promotions, transfers, assignments...or any action which may be taken under chapter 41.06 RCW, or other disciplinary action except as provided in RCW 42.40.030.

RCW 42.40.020(6)(b) (emphasis added).

Mendoza de Sugiyama's complaint to the Auditor of "improper

⁴ Citation to unpublished federal opinions decided after January 1, 2007 is permitted by GR 14.1(b) and Fed. R. App. P. 32.1.

governmental action" was that WSDOT HR had spent considerable money on the remodel of Murinko's office, and WSDOT had put Murinko (an unqualified individual in her opinion) in charge of external ADA matters. CP at 851. See also CP at 533-34. Her complaints about the remodel and Murinko's promotion are both the type of personnel-related matters specifically excluded by the whistleblower statute. RCW 42.40.020(6)(b). The undisputed evidence is that the Auditor did not open an investigation because Mendoza de Sugiyama complained of a personnel matter. CP at 853. She was informed by letter that the Auditor would not investigate her complaint because it involved issues outside the scope and authority of the Whistleblower program. CP at 853.

3. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That Mendoza De Sugiyama's Letters To The Governor And FHWA Were Not Whistleblower Complaints

In her response to WSDOT's motion for summary judgment, Mendoza de Sugiyama alleged for the first time that her letters to the Governor and the FHWA were also the basis of her whistleblower claim. CP at 839. The trial court correctly ruled that those letters did not allege improper government action as required under RCW 42.40. CP at 1533. Like her subsequent complaint to the Auditor, those letters concerned personnel matters about Murinko, office reorganization, change in administrative reporting assignment, and questions by WSDOT

personnel about her professionalism and quality of work. Her complaints were not about "improper governmental actions." As a matter of law, "Improper governmental action' [does] not include personnel actions . . . including but not limited to employee . . . transfers, assignments, reassignments . . . [or] claims of discriminatory treatment" RCW 42.40.020(6)(b) (emphasis added). The trial court correctly held, and the court of appeals correctly affirmed, that those letters did not meet the definition of whistleblower complaints. Neither letter resulted in an investigation by the Auditor. RCW 42.40.020(10)(a).

C. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined That The Scrivener Decision Had No Effect On Its Analysis Where Mendoza De Sugiyama Failed To Establish A Prima Facie Discrimination Case And Provided No Evidence That WSDOT's Reasons For Terminating Her Employment Were Pretextual

Mendoza de Sugiyama also seeks the review of this Court on the ground that, even after a motion for reconsideration focused on this issue, the court of appeals "ignored" this Court's *Scrivener* decision. Pet. For Rev. at 17-20. As the court of appeals briefly discussed in the original opinion and implicitly affirmed by denying reconsideration, *Scrivener* does not touch on the analysis employed by the court of appeals in this case.

Scrivener analyzed the last step of the discrimination analysis, "focus[ing] on the pretext prong of the McDonnell Douglas framework."

Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 446. In Scrivener, this Court addressed ways in which a plaintiff who has successfully made a prima facie case may rebut the employer's articulated reasons.

An employee may satisfy the pretext prong by offering sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact either (1) that the defendant's reason is pre-textual or (2) that although the employer's stated reason is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer.

Id. at 446-47. Scrivener found that the court of appeals, in deciding Scrivener's case, had relied on two of its own opinions⁵ to erroneously limit the ways in which a plaintiff could overcome an employer's stated reasons. This Court determined that the court of appeals omitted "the possibility of proving that discrimination was a substantially motivating factor in the employment decision," and held that a plaintiff may also "satisfy the pretext prong by presenting sufficient evidence that discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer." Id. at 447-48.

Mendoza de Sugiyama's case was dismissed at trial because she failed to produce <u>any</u> evidence to support her claims. CP at 1533-534. The court of appeals correctly determined that not only did Mendoza de Sugiyama fail to make a *prima facie* case of discrimination, but that after WSDOT articulated the basis for her termination (her retaliatory actions against a disabled employee who had complained about her mistreatment of him) "she

⁵ Kuyper v. Dep't of Wildlife, 79 Wn. App. 732, 904 P.2d 793 (1995); Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Serv., 169 Wn. App. 137, 279 P.3d 500 (2012).

ma[de] no attempt to demonstrate that the Department's legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for her termination were a pretext for discrimination." Slip op. 13, n 5. An independent investigator found Mendoza de Sugiyama to have retaliated against and mocked a subordinate with cerebral palsy. WSDOT's decision to terminate her for those actions was well-founded.

V. CONCLUSION

Margarita Mendoza de Sugiyama's petition should be denied. Her case raised fact-intense issues properly resolved by an intermediate court applying well-settled law employment law. It was properly decided by the court of appeals and does not pose an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).